
From: Roth, Kimberly
To: Winni Yan
Cc: Ellen Leonida; PRA Response
Subject: RE: California Public Records Act Request [PRA 21-104]
Date: Friday, April 29, 2022 4:18:21 PM
Attachments: PRA 21-104 - Response Letter #2.pdf

*** EXTERNAL MESSAGE ***

Hello,
 
Please see the attached response letter. Here is the link to download the records:
https://transfer.sdcda.org/?ShareToken=C109A4D8290B71F7761A391BA5A4740859938335
 
 
Please let me know if you have any difficulty accessing the records.
 
 
Thank you,
 
Kimberly Roth
Deputy District Attorney
Appellate and Training Division
 
 

From: Roth, Kimberly 
Sent: Wednesday, April 13, 2022 4:39 PM
To: Winni Yan <yan@braunhagey.com>
Cc: Ellen Leonida <Leonida@braunhagey.com>; PRA Response <praresponse@braunhagey.com>
Subject: RE: California Public Records Act Request
 
Hello,
 
This correspondence is to confirm receipt of your letter dated March 29, 2022, titled “2022-03-29 –
Legal Argument Letter to San Diego (Policy).” This office is considering the legal arguments asserted
in your letter and will provide a written response by April 29, 2022. 
 
Thank you,
 
Kimberly Roth
Deputy District Attorney
Appellate & Training Division
 
 

From: Winni Yan <yan@braunhagey.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, March 29, 2022 4:11 PM
To: San Diego DA <SanDiegoDA@sdcda.org>; San Diego DA <SanDiegoDA@sdcda.org>; Roth,
Kimberly <Kimberly.Roth@sdcda.org>
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April 29, 2022 
 
Ellen Leonida 
leonida@braunhagey.com  
 
Re:   California Public Records Act Request 


Reference No. 21-104 PRA 
Response Letter #2 


 
Dear Ellen Leonida, 
 
As explained in previous correspondence, I am a designated custodian of records for the San 
Diego County District Attorney’s Office responsible for compliance with the California Public 
Records Act (CPRA).  I am handling your July 23, 2021, three-part CPRA request made on 
behalf of the American Civil Liberties Union of Northern California (ACLU).  
 
On August 2, August 16, September 20, and November 18, 2021, this office provided you 
updates on our progress processing your request. On February 28, 2022, this office emailed you a 
response letter (dated February 25, 2022) and a Serv-U link to download responsive records. The 
response letter also stated that there are additional records that were still being reviewed, and that 
a further update or additional responsive records would be provided by April 29, 2022.  
 
On March 8, 2022, I had a telephone conversation with your colleagues Kory DeClark and 
Joshua Wilner. They stated they would provide a written response to my February 25 letter the 
following week. On March 29, 2022, this office received your letter which contained your 
objections to my February 25 letter and requested a response by April 13, 2022. On April 13, 
2022, I emailed you to inform you that we were considering the legal arguments asserted in your 
letter and that we would respond by April 29, 2022.  
 
In this letter, we respond to your legal arguments regarding the core work product protection of 
the guidance documents requested in Part 1, Request 1. We also respond to your legal arguments 
regarding the overbreadth and overburdensome nature of a portion of your request in Part 1, 
Request 2, and we invite additional discussions to narrow this request. We are also providing you 
with additional responsive records via Serv-U file sharing. A link will be emailed to you.  
 
This office is still reconsidering your legal arguments regarding the disclosure of policies 
requested in Part 1, Request 1. This office will provide our response on this topic by May 27, 
2022. We thank you for the opportunity to discuss and attempt to resolve these issues without 
litigation.  
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Part 1, Request 1:  
 
Any and all written policies, memoranda, or guidance documents regarding: 


a. Diversion eligibility and/or programming; 
b. Custody and/or bail recommendations; 
c. Charging recommendations and/or decisions, including, but not limited 


to: 
i. Charging recommendations and/or decisions regarding 


enhancements; 
ii. Charging recommendations and/or decisions regarding special 


circumstances; or 
iii. Charging recommendations and/or decisions regarding wobblers; 


d. Compliance with Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); 
e. Jury selection; 
f. Sentencing recommendations; 
g. Prosecution of minors; 
h. Parole recommendations; 
i. Pardon and commutation recommendations; 
j. Reports to the State Bar relating to discipline and/or prosecutorial 


misconduct; 
k. Data collection relating to criminal matters, including demographic data 


of defendants and victims; or 
l. Referral of cases for federal prosecution. 


 
Response 
   


1. Defining Guidance Documents 
 
A guidance document is a document that provides legal or practical guidance. Legal guidance 
assists our attorneys in understanding the relevant law on a specific issue; it consists of another 
attorney’s legal research including statutes, case law, or legal principles applicable to the issue. 
Practical guidance assists our attorneys in understanding how to apply the law to various 
situations; it consists of advice and strategies based on that attorney’s impressions, conclusions, 
opinions, and theories on the relevant law.  
 


2. California’s Absolute Core Work Product Privilege 
 
The core work product privilege is codified in California Code of Civil Procedure, section 
2018.030, subdivision (a), which states: “A writing that reflects an attorney’s impressions, 
conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories is not discoverable under any circumstances.”  
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Accordingly, the work product doctrine “absolutely protects from discovery writings that contain 
an “attorney’s impressions, conclusions, opinions, or legal research or theories.” (Rico v.  
Mitsubishi Motors Corp. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 807, 814.) This privilege extends to criminal cases. 
(People v. Zamudio (2008) 43 Cal.4th 327, 355; Pen. Code, § 1054.6.)  
 
The policy of the work product privilege is to “[p]reserve the rights of attorneys to prepare cases 
for trial with that degree of privacy necessary to encourage them to prepare their cases 
thoroughly . . .” and to “[p]revent attorneys from taking undue advantage of their adversary’s 
industry and efforts.” (Code Civ. Proc., § 2018.020.) In other words, “[a] litigant needs the same 
opportunity to research relevant law and to prepare his or her case without then having to give  
that research to an adversary making a discovery request.” (Dowden v. Superior Court (1999) 73 
Cal.app.4th 126, 129-133.)  
 
Contrary to the federal work product privilege, the protection afforded by California’s privilege 
“is not limited to writings created by a lawyer in anticipation of a lawsuit” and applies equally 
“to writings prepared by an attorney while acting in a nonlitigation capacity.” (League of  
California Cities v. Superior Court (2015) 241 Cal.App.4th 976, 993; compare with Fed. Rules 
Civ. Proc, rule 26(b)(3); Am. Civil Liberties Union of N. Cal. v. U.S. Dep’t of Justice (2018) 880 
F.3d 473, 484 [“To qualify for [federal] work-product protection, documents must: (1) be 
prepared in anticipation of litigation or for trial”].) 
 
California courts reasoned that applying the work product privilege to attorneys acting in a 
nonlitigation capacity “provides an incentive for attorneys to maintain the highest level of 
competence.” (Rumac, Inc. v. Bottomley (1983) 143 Cal.App.3d 810, 815.) “We strongly believe 
there is no less need for the lawyer’s professional competence in matters unrelated to litigation 
and observe the California rules of Professional Conduct make no distinction between the trial 
and nontrial lawyer, applying to each with equal force.” (Id. at 816; see Cal. Rules of Prof. 
Conduct, rule 3-110 [“ ‘competence’ in any legal service shall mean to apply the . . . learning and 
skill . . . reasonably necessary for the performance of such service”].) 
 
Accordingly, the limitations to the work product rule asserted in your response are inapplicable 
here because those limitations were based on the federal requirement that documents be prepared 
in anticipation of litigation to qualify as work product.  
 
Moreover, although we agree that the CPRA was modeled after the Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA), and judicial interpretation of the FOIA acts as guidance for CPRA interpretation, the 
core work product privilege is not an exemption created by the CPRA. The core work product  
privilege exists independent of the CPRA and is governed by its own set of rules. If a document 
is determined to be protected by the core work product privilege in California, it necessarily is 
exempt under the CPRA pursuant to Government Code section 6254, subdivision (k).  
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3. The Guidance Documents Requested are Protected by the Core Work Product 
Privilege or are Copyrighted Materials   


 
This office did not locate guidance documents or memoranda responsive to the following items 
requested in Part 1, Request 1: 


- (j) Reports to the State Bar relating to discipline and/or prosecutorial misconduct; 
- (k) Data collection relating to criminal matters, including demographic data of defendants 


and victims; and  
- (l) Referral of cases for federal prosecution.  


 
This office located guidance documents (including memoranda that provide legal or practical 
guidance) for the following items requested in Part 1, Request 1: 


- (a) Diversion eligibility and/or programming; 
- (b) Custody and/or bail recommendations; 
- (c) Charging recommendations and/or decisions; 
- (d) Compliance with Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 (1963); 
- (e) Jury selection; 
- (f) Sentencing recommendations;  
- (g) Prosecution of minors; 
- (h) Parole recommendations; and 
- (i)  Pardon and commutation recommendations. 


 
As discussed above, the term guidance document is defined by this office as a document that 
provides legal or practical guidance. Such documents consist of an attorney’s legal research, 
impressions, conclusions, opinions, and theories on the relevant law. Accordingly, the responsive 
guidance documents that were created by attorneys within this office are protected by the core 
work product privilege.  
 
The California Supreme Court’s interpretation of the core work product privilege supports this 
conclusion. In Rico v. Mitsubishi Motors Corp. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 807 (Rico), two Mitsubishi 
corporations were sued. (Id. at p. 811.) Mitsubishi representatives met with their lawyers and two 
defense experts to discuss case strategy and identify vulnerabilities. (Ibid.) At the direction of 
one of the lawyers, a paralegal took notes during the meeting. (Ibid.) The lawyer had advised the 
paralegal on which topics to take notes. (Ibid.)   
 
The Rico court agreed with the trial court’s explanation of why the notes were protected by the 
absolute work product privilege. (Rico, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 815.) “As to the content of the  
document, although it doesn’t contain overt statements setting forth the lawyer’s conclusions, its 
very existence is owed to the lawyer’s thought process.” (Ibid.) “The document reflects not only 
the strategy, but also the attorney’s opinion as to the important issues in the case.” (Ibid.) 
Additionally, “[t]he attorney’s impressions of the case were the filter through which all the 
discussions at the conference were passed through on the way to the page,” and “the choices in 
[expert witness] statements to record shows the thought process” of that attorney. (Ibid.)    
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Here, the responsive guidance documents created by attorneys in this office are core work 
product. The authoring attorney decided which topics were important to include in the guidance 
document, and that attorney researched the relevant statutory and case law and outlined and 
summarized that law in the guidance document. The very existence of the document “is owed to 
the lawyer’s thought process” and represents the attorney’s impressions, conclusions, opinions, 
and theories on the law. (Rico, supra, 42 Cal.4th at p. 815.) Thus, the guidance documents 
constitute core work product and are exempt from disclosure under the CPRA. Moreover, these 
records are analogous to the record found to be protected by the federal work product privilege in 
National Association of Criminal Defense Lawyers v. Dept. of Justice Exec. Office for United 
States Attorneys (D.C. Cir. 2016) 844 F.3d 246 (NACDL). Thus, the records are exempt even 
under the federal standard.  
 
Additionally, some of the responsive records are further exempt from disclosure because they are 
copyrighted materials. (Gov. Code, § 6254, subd. (k), including, but not limited to, Civ. Code, 
§ 980; Title 17 U.S.C. § 101 et seq.; Evid. Code, § 1040.)    
 
However, we have previously provided you with responsive records that provide guidance but 
are not copyrighted materials, are not core work product, or where we have waived the core work 
product privilege (as discussed in the response to Part 3, Request 1). Additional records are also 
being disclosed now. The previously disclosed and current records are responsive to: 


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
- (e) Jury selection; and 
- (f) Sentencing recommendations. 


 
Please note that additional guidance documents regarding jury selection in section (e) may be 
disclosed to you in the training materials this office disclosed in response to Part 3, Request 1. 
 


4. Response Regarding Policies 
 
This office is still reconsidering your legal arguments regarding the disclosure of policies 
requested. This office will provide our response on this topic by May 27, 2022. We thank you for 
the opportunity to discuss and attempt to resolve these issues without litigation.  
 
Part 1, Request 2:  
 
Any and all policies regarding training as well as any training materials, recorded 
trainings, or related materials: 


a. Which are mandatory for prosecutors; 
b. Which are optional for prosecutors; 
c. Which relate to jury selection; 
d. Which relate to bias, implicit bias, unconscious bias, and/or racism; or 
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e. Which relate to presentation and/or use of evidence from social media 
platforms (including but not limited to YouTube, Snapchat, Instagram, 
TikTok, Twitter, Facebook, Reddit and Tumblr) and other media 
(including but not limited to movies, song lyrics, and videos). 


 
Response: 
 
This office located training materials responsive to requests (c) and (d). These records are being 
produced to you. For this office’s complete response regarding these records, please see the 
responses to Part 1, Request 3 and Part 3, Request 1 below.   
 
Regarding the training materials requested in section (e), to the extent this office has any 
responsive training materials, they are exempt from disclosure under the core work product 
privilege. Any trainings by this office regarding the presentation and use of evidence in the 
prosecution of a criminal case necessarily include legal and practical guidance, which constitutes 
core work product.  
 
Regarding the requests in sections (a) and (b), in addition to the applicable core work product 
privilege, we reiterate that these requests are overbroad and the search for and collection of 
records and subsequent review and redaction of exempt material would be unduly burdensome.  
 
The requests seek materials from every training conducted by this office or attended by any 
prosecutor in this office over a seven-year period. This office employs over 350 prosecutors, and 
every year this office conducts numerous trainings for its prosecutors. These trainings are 
conducted to ensure the competency of our attorneys as they practice law. (See generally, Cal. 
Rules of Prof. Conduct, rule 3-110.)  
 
The time and resources it would take to collect and review the materials from every single 
training would be beyond substantial. To illustrate, it took nine months to collect and review the 
training materials from a three-year period for only three topics. Collecting and reviewing 
materials from every training over a seven-year period, covering every topic, would take 
multiple years to complete. And, as discussed above, most if not all of the training materials 
would be exempt under the work product privilege.  
 
Additionally, there is no identifiable public interest that “supports such a wholesale production of 
documents.” (Times Mirror Co. v. Superior Court (1991) 53 Cal.3d 1325, 1345.) The Racial 
Justice Act did not create a public interest in the wholesale production of training materials from 
every training conducted by this office or attended by any prosecutor in this office over a seven-
year period that would justify disclosure.    
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Moreover, a request which “compels the production of a huge volume of material,” such as this, 
may be objectionable as “unduly burdensome.” (California First Amendment Coalition v. 
Superior Court (1998) 67 Cal.App.4th 159, 166.) A search that would involve excessive time 
and expense in locating and segregating non-exempt from exempt information may provide  
grounds to deny such a request. (American Civil Liberties Union Foundation v. Deukmejian 
(1982) 32 Cal.3d 440, 453, fn. 13; County of Santa Clara v. Superior Court (2009) 170 
Cal.App.4th 1301, 1321; Bertoli v. City of Sebastapol (2015) 233 Cal.App.4th 353, 360-363.) 
 
Here, the public interest served by nondisclosure of the records clearly outweighs any limited 
public interest served by collection and disclosure of every training over a seven-year period. 
(Gov. Code, § 6255, subd. (a).) This is particularly true in light of the fact that we are providing  
you with training materials on three areas of serious concern: jury selection, implicit bias, and 
the Racial Justice Act.  
 
Nevertheless, we again invite you to narrow your request to cure the overbreadth and undue 
burdensome nature of this request. In the response letter dated February 25, 2022, we invited you 
to narrow the request by topic or time. Please let me know if you are interested in having a phone 
conversation to discuss narrowing this request. I look forward to collaborating with you to reach 
a mutual resolution.     
 
Part 1, Request 3:  
 
Records concerning the Racial Justice Act: 


a. Implementation of and compliance with the RJA; 
b. Communications concerning the RJA; or 
c. Trainings related to the RJA. 


 
Response:  
 
We are providing you with records responsive to this request. Because the Racial Justice Act is a 
topic of serious concern, similar to those found in jury selection (as discussed in the response for 
Part 3, Request 1), the District Attorney has directed that she will waive the core work product 
privilege and deliberative process exemption for the portions of the responsive records that will 
be provided to you. Any copyrighted images or information sourced from copyrighted material 
have been redacted as provision of those materials would violate copyright law. Please note that 
we do not intentionally waive any proscription against disclosure such as copyright infringement 
or statutory prohibitions to the extent such materials may inadvertently appear in the records 
disclosed.  
 
Part 3, Request 1: 
 
You renewed the ACLU’s prior request from PRA reference number 19-67, “updated to the 
present day” (July 23, 2021). PRA 19-67 sought the following: 
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[C]opies of the following materials in the agency’s possession, regardless of who 
wrote them, from 1990 onwards:  


o Any training materials related to jury selection 
o Any training materials related to the constitutional requirements 


under Batson v. Kentucky and People v. Wheeler, including training 
materials related to handling Batson-Wheeler claims or motions. 


 
Response:  
 
On August 22, 2019, and July 23, 2020, this office provided Shilpi Agarwal of the ACLU 
Northern California records responsive to this request. Those records were from the period of 
1990 to July 29, 2019.  
 
On February 28, 2022, this office provided you responsive records from the period of July 29, 
2019, to January 21, 2021. This office completed the review of records for the period of January 
22, 2021 to July 23, 2021. Those records are being provided to you.  
 
As explained in this office’s February 25, 2022, letter, the District Attorney is aware of the 
serious concern surrounding the role unconscious and conscious bias play in jury selection. 
Therefore, the District Attorney has directed that she will waive the core work product privilege, 
as well as the deliberative process exemption, for the portions of the responsive records that will 
be provided to you. Please note that this office does not intentionally waive any proscription 
against disclosure such as copyright infringement or statutory prohibitions to the extent such 
materials may inadvertently appear in the records disclosed.  
 
This office endeavors to provide access to information concerning the conduct of the People’s 
business. We reserve the right, however, to maintain the lawful confidentiality of our records, 
and to claim and enforce any and all applicable exemptions, privileges, and proscriptions against 
public disclosure of records, including, but not limited to, those listed in Article 2 of the 
Government Code, Title 1, Division 7, Chapter 3.5, the California Evidence Code, Civil 
Procedure and Penal Codes, the Federal Rules of Evidence, and those established by case law.  
 
Sincerely,  


 
 


Kimberly Roth 
Deputy District Attorney 
Appellate and Training Division  







Cc: Ellen Leonida <Leonida@braunhagey.com>; PRA Response <praresponse@braunhagey.com>
Subject: California Public Records Act Request
 

[EXTERNAL SENDER]

Dear Counsel,
 
Please see attached correspondence on behalf of Ms. Leonida regarding our July 23, 2021 CPRA
request.
 
Regards,
 
Winni Yan
Litigation Paralegal
B R A U N H A G E Y  &  B O R D E N  L L P 
Direct:  (415) 256-7731

San Francisco (Main Office)

351 California Street, 10th Floor
San Francisco, CA 94104
Tel. & Fax: (415) 599-0210
 
New York
118 W 22nd Street, 12th Floor
New York, NY 10011
Tel. & Fax: (646) 829-9403
 
This message is intended only for the confidential use of the intended recipient(s) and may contain protected information
that is subject to attorney-client, work product, joint defense and/or other legal privileges.  If you are not the intended
recipient, please contact me immediately at the phone number listed above and permanently delete the original message and
any copies thereof from your email system.  Thank you.

 

EXTERNAL SENDER - CAUTION:  This email was sent from outside the San Diego County District Attorney's Email System.
 Please do not click any links or open attachments unless you recognize the sender and know the content is safe.
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